## Western University Scholarship@Western

**Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository** 

8-23-2022 7:00 PM

# Biomechanical Characterization of Semi-Rigid Constructs and the Potential Effect on Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in the Thoracic Spine

Chloe Cadieux, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Rasoulinejad, Parham, *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor: Bailey, Chris, *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor: Zdero, Radovan, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Surgery © Chloe Cadieux 2022

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Orthopedics Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Cadieux, Chloe, "Biomechanical Characterization of Semi-Rigid Constructs and the Potential Effect on Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in the Thoracic Spine" (2022). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository.* 8837. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/8837

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

#### Abstract

Long spinal fusions are the mainstay of treatment in adult spinal deformity; however, proximal junctional kyphosis (PJK) is a common and potentially catastrophic complication that can occur following this procedure. It has been hypothesized that using semi-rigid constructs at the superior aspect of the instrumentation may decrease this complication. The objective of this thesis was to determine if there is a biomechanical advantage between various semi-rigid constructs utilized in long spinal fusions to help decrease the risk of PJK. Nine human cadaveric spines (T1 - T12) instrumented with the standard all-pedicle-screw construct (APS) were compared to various semi-rigid constructs including sublaminar bands (SB), supralaminar hooks (SLH), transverse process hooks (TPH), and short pedicle screws (SS). Results demonstrated that TPH reduced motion at the junction between the instrumented and non-instrumented spine segments and had the most linear change in motion. In comparison, SLH and SS were found to have a high degree of stiffness. No differences were seen between APS and SB. Overall, semi-rigid constructs alter the biomechanics at adjacent levels. TPH provides the most gradual change in motion, which may reduce mechanical stress and decrease the risk of PJK.

## Keywords

Proximal junctional kyphosis, proximal junctional failure, adjacent level disease, semi-rigid constructs, adult spinal deformity, spinal fusion, thoracic spine, biomechanics

#### Summary for Lay Audience

Adult spinal deformity (ASD) is a disorder where the spine is abnormally curved which can cause symptoms such as back pain, leg pain, and weakness or numbness in the legs. It is a common condition, affecting approximately 8-13% of the adult population. Treatment for ASD includes physiotherapy, medications, and injections; however, if these treatments fail, surgery can be performed. This involves straightening the spine and fusing the vertebrae (the bony building blocks of the spine) together. In order to do this, screws are placed into the vertebrae and a long rod is attached on either side of the spine. This surgery has been shown to help alleviate symptoms associated with ASD and has become the mainstay of treatment for this condition. However, complications can occur after surgery. One such complication is called proximal junctional kyphosis (PJK). This occurs when the spine above the part that is fused collapses forward. Unfortunately, this can cause people to experience significant pain, they can have damage to the spinal cord and nerves, the screws and rods can break, and a second surgery may be needed to correct this.

One of the reasons PJK occurs is due to the very sudden change in the amount of movement between the fused part of the spine and the not fused part, which creates a lot of stress at the junction where they meet. To help decrease the risk of PJK occurring, semi-rigid instruments were created to be placed at this junction to allow a more gradual change in movement. This project looked into different types of these semi-rigid instruments to help determine if one is better than the other.

To do this, we completed a biomechanical study to assess how four different semi-rigid instrumentations effect movement of the spine. We used spines from people that had donated their bodies to research, which were then tested by moving them through many directions of motion and recording their movement for comparison. Overall, we found that several of the semi-rigid instruments did lead to a more gradual change in motion at the junction between the fused and not-fused spine. This information will help surgeons decide which semi-rigid instruments to use during surgery for ASD to help reduce the risk of developing PJK.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Rasoulinejad, for providing me with the opportunity to pursue this project as a Master's student. I have learned a great deal throughout this experience and I owe much of that to him. To my co-supervisor, Dr. Bailey, I am grateful for his expert opinion and guidance during this work. Both Dr. Rasoulinejad and Dr. Bailey have provided me with support and mentorship not only during this research, but also through my Orthopaedic residency, and for that I am forever grateful.

Dr. Renan Fernandes was instrumental throughout the project, and I am deeply appreciative of his patience and willingness to help, even on short notice.

Thank-you to Pawel Brzozowski for the countless hours spent in the lab testing and analyzing data. His expertise and assistance were crucial in completing this project.

To my family and my partner, Surinder, for their unwavering support as I took on this Master's. I would not be where I am today without them.

Lastly, to those who donated their bodies to science, and their respective families, I thankyou.

### Contributions

This thesis was made possible due to a team of individuals with diverse expertise. Contributions are as follows:

Chapter 1: Chloe Cadieux – sole author

**Chapter 2**: Chloe Cadieux – study design, data collection, data analysis, wrote manuscript; Renan Fernandes – study design, reviewed data analysis, reviewed manuscript; Pawel Brzozwski – study design, data collection, data analysis; Radovan Zdero – reviewed data analysis; Chris Bailey – reviewed data analysis, reviewed manuscript; Parham Rasoulinejad – study design, reviewed data analysis, reviewed manuscript

**Chapter 3**: Chloe Cadieux – study design, data collection, data analysis, wrote manuscript; Renan Fernandes - study design, reviewed data analysis, reviewed manuscript; Pawel Brzozwski – study design, data collection, data analysis; Radovan Zdero – reviewed data analysis; Chris Bailey – reviewed data analysis, reviewed manuscript; Parham Rasoulinejad – study design, reviewed data analysis, reviewed manuscript

Chapter 4: Chloe Cadieux – sole author

Abstractii
Summary for Lay Audienceiv
Acknowledgmentsvi
Contributions
Table of Contentsviii
List of Tablesx
List of Figures xi
Chapter 1 1
1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 ANATOMY OVERVIEW1
1.2 ADULT SPINAL DEFORMITY
1.3 PROXIMAL JUNCTIONAL KYPHOSIS
1.4 SEMI-RIGID CONSTRUCTS 12
1.5 BIOMECHANICAL RESEARCH
1.5.1 TRANSVERSE PROCESS HOOKS
1.5.2 LAMINAR HOOKS
1.5.3 SUBLAMINAR BANDS 15
1.5.4 TETHERS
1.6 THESIS RATIONALE
Chapter 2
2 METHODS
2.1 CONSTRUCT SELECTION
2.2 CADAVER PREPARATION

# Table of Contents

2.3 INSTRUMENTATION	4
2.4 TESTING PROTOCOL	9
2.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	0
Chapter 3 3	2
3 RESULTS	2
3.1 RANGE OF MOTION	2
3.2 STIFFNESS	-1
3.3 LINEAR REGRESSION 4	.5
Chapter 4 4	.7
4 DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS 4	.7
4.1 DISCUSSION AND SUMMARY 4	.7
4.2 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	1
4.3 CONCLUSIONS	3
References	4
Appendices	5

# List of Tables

Table 1: Cadaveric Specimen Demographics	21
Table 2: Semi-Random Testing	26
Table 3: Linear Regression Coefficient of Determination (R <sup>2</sup> )	46
Table 4: Classification of Proximal Junctional Kyphosis Described by Yagi et al.	65
Table 5: Hart – International Spine Study Group Proximal Junctional Kyphosis Severity	
Scale	66
Table 6: Mean Absolute Range of Motion and Standard Deviation (SD)	67

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Thoracic Vertebrae
Figure 2: Adult Spinal Deformity
Figure 3: Posterior Instrumentation and Fusion7
Figure 4: Proximal Junctional Kyphosis Angle Measurement
Figure 5: Proximal Junctional Kyphosis 10
Figure 6: Semi-Rigid Constructs 19
Figure 7: Preparation of Cadaveric Specimen
Figure 8: Instrumentation of Semi-Rigid Constructs
Figure 9: Cadaveric Instrumentation of Semi-Rigid Constructs
Figure 10: Biomechanical Testing Set-Up
Figure 11: Distribution of Data in Flexion-Extension
Figure 12: Distribution of Data in Lateral Bending
Figure 13: Distribution of Data in Axial Rotation
Figure 14: Normalized Range of Motion in Flexion-Extension
Figure 15: Normalized Range of Motion in Lateral Bending
Figure 16: Normalized Range of Motion in Axial Rotation
Figure 17: Normalized ROM in Flexion and Extension 40
Figure 18: Stiffness in Flexion-Extension
Figure 19: Stiffness in Lateral Bending
Figure 20: Stiffness in Axial Rotation

## Chapter 1

## **1** INTRODUCTION

This chapter provides a basic overview of relevant spinal anatomy, spinal disorders and associated treatments, as well as a literature review of pertinent instrumentation techniques.

## **1.1** ANATOMY OVERVIEW

The human spine is a complex structure that provides integral function and support to the human body. The osseous and ligamentous features allow for multi-directional movement, maintenance of an upright posture, and protection of the spinal cord and neural elements. The bony anatomy of the spine consists of 33 vertebrae which are split into five distinct segments: cervical, thoracic, lumbar, sacral, and coccygeal. The vertebrae share many common features, with the majority of vertebrae being comprised of an anterior vertebral body and a posterior arch, linked together by two horizontal pillars called pedicles.<sup>1,2</sup> Projecting posteriorly from the pedicles, the posterior arch has several processes: a spinous process, bilateral transverse processes, and superior and inferior articular processes that form joints with adjacent vertebrae, called facet joints (Figure 1). Multiple ligamentous and soft tissue structures throughout the spine resist specific movements and provide stability.<sup>3</sup> However, each segment of the spine has its own unique characteristics, and the remainder of this thesis will focus on the thoracic spine.

The thoracic spine has several distinguishing features. It is the longest segment, including 12 vertebrae, and it is characterized by its kyphotic curvature. One of the most notable features is the association of the ribcage. The ribcage, and the associated costovertebral joints and ligaments, provide a strong stabilizing effect that is not present in other spinal segments. Previous biomechanical studies have illustrated this by demonstrating significant differences in range of motion (ROM) between thoracic spines with the ribs intact compared to those that have been disarticulated.<sup>4,5</sup> From a clinical perspective, the thoracic spine is frequently affected in spinal deformities in both the paediatric and adult populations.



#### Figure 1: Thoracic Vertebrae

A lateral (top) and axial (bottom) image of the thoracic vertebrae and its associated anatomy. The vertebral body sits anteriorly and is connected to the posterior processes by pedicles bilaterally. This forms a protective arch around the spinal cord, which sits in the spinal canal. In addition to the superior and inferior processes, which form joints with adjacent vertebrae, the thoracic vertebrae have additional articulations for attachments of the ribcage.

## **1.2** ADULT SPINAL DEFORMITY

Adult spinal deformity (ASD) is a heterogeneous disorder characterized by deformity in the sagittal and/or coronal planes leading to an imbalance of the spinal column (Figure 2). This complex disorder frequently occurs in the thoracic and lumbar spine with deformity defined by a spinal curve greater than 10° in the coronal plane or a sagittal imbalance greater than 5cm.<sup>6,7,8</sup> A broad spectrum of conditions falls under the umbrella of ASD, including De novo scoliosis, idiopathic scoliosis, iatrogenic deformity, hyperkyphosis, and more. It is thought that progressive and asymmetric changes result in degeneration of the disc and/or facet joints leading to pain and possible compression of neural elements. Patients with ASD present numerous ways; often with complaints of back pain, radiculopathy, or symptoms of stenosis. These symptoms can range from mild to severe, potentially with an inability to participate in activities of daily living. Studies have shown that ASD has a significant impact on quality of life, with patients scoring lower in all eight domains of the 36-Item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) compared to the general population.<sup>8</sup> Although the historical incidence of ASD was thought to be between 8 – 13%, it has more recently been documented at a higher frequency and is likely to continue to increase as the population ages.<sup>9,10</sup>

Treatment for ASD consists of both nonoperative and operative strategies, with nonoperative management generally applied as first-line treatment.<sup>6</sup> However, a lack of consensus exists on optimal nonoperative management. Evidence has shown that physical therapy, core strengthening, non-narcotic pharmacotherapy, and injections may provide adequate symptom management for mild symptoms.<sup>11,12</sup> Surgical intervention is

generally recommended for patients who have failed nonoperative management, have documented curve progression, or develop neurologic compromise. Surgery must be tailored to the specific pathology but may include procedures such as decompression, instrumented fusion, or osteotomies to correct the deformity. Currently, long posterior instrumentation and fusion is the mainstay of treatment.<sup>10,11</sup> This involves placing screws through the pedicles of the vertebrae and attaching a metal rod to these screws along both sides of the spinal column (Figure 3). This allows for intervertebral segmental stability and substantial corrective ability to address the deformity. Studies have demonstrated satisfactory patient outcomes with this procedure, such as decreased pain, increased function, and improved health-related quality of life (HRQOL) scores post-operatively.<sup>12,13</sup> However, the surgery is not without complications.

Complications following long posterior spinal fusions can be divided into patient-specific versus surgery-specific factors. Surgery-specific complications can be further subdivided into non-mechanical (dural tear, infection, etc.) and mechanical complications (screw pull-out, proximal junctional kyphosis, etc.).<sup>12</sup> While there is a plethora of literature on all types of complications, there is an increased interest in mechanical complications to help better optimize surgical equipment and technique. One mechanical complication in particular continues to plague surgeons and pose ongoing challenges: proximal junctional kyphosis (PJK).



#### **Figure 2: Adult Spinal Deformity**

Adult spinal deformity may involve deformity in the sagittal and/or coronal planes. These x-rays demonstrate a large curvature seen in the coronal plane (left) with increased kyphosis in the sagittal plane (right). The sagittal vertical axis (SVA) is drawn from the C7 vertebral body to the posterosuperior aspect of S1 (right), with a normal SVA being <5 cm.



#### **Figure 3: Posterior Instrumentation and Fusion**

Posterior instrumented fusion is the mainstay of treatment for spinal deformities. These x-rays demonstrate a long posterior instrumented spinal fusion from T5-L3. The deformity correction and fusion is performed by placing pedicle screws into the vertebrae and connecting these with a metal rod, as seen above.

## **1.3** PROXIMAL JUNCTIONAL KYPHOSIS

PJK is a common complication of long posterior spinal instrumentation and fusion, with an incidence ranging from 6% up to 69.4%.<sup>14,15,16</sup> It occurs when the vertebrae immediately cephalad to the instrumented segment collapses into a kyphotic deformity. It was initially described by Glattes et al. as a kyphotic deformity with a sagittal Cobb angle of greater than or equal to 10° and at least 10° greater than the preoperative measurements.<sup>14</sup> This angle is measured from a line from the inferior endplate of the most proximal vertebrae instrumented with pedicle screws, called the uppermost instrumented vertebrae (UIV), and a line from the superior endplate of the vertebrae two levels above that (UIV+2) (Figures 4 and 5). Although it's definition is based on radiographic measures, PJK can have substantial clinical implications. Most notably, it may progress to proximal junctional failure, resulting in events such as vertebral body fracture, subluxation, pain, neurologic deficits, and need for revision surgery.<sup>18</sup> Thus, PJK is a critical complication due to both its frequency and sequelae.



#### Figure 4: Proximal Junctional Kyphosis Angle Measurement

Proximal junctional kyphosis (PJK) is defined by a sagittal Cobb angle of  $\geq 10^{\circ}$  and at least 10° greater than the preoperative radiograph measurements. This angle is measured by a line drawn from the inferior endplate of the uppermost instrumented vertebrae (UIV) and a line drawn from the superior endplate of the vertebrae two levels above the UIV as shown above.



#### Figure 5: Proximal Junctional Kyphosis

Hypermobility at the junction between the instrumented and non-instrumented spine is thought to lead to proximal junctional kyphosis (PJK). This lateral x-ray demonstrates PJK with the segment immediately above the uppermost instrumented vertebrae falling into an abnormal kyphosis. The kyphotic angle measures approximately 49°. In order to help describe the severity of PJK, two classifications have been established (see Appendix A). The first was described by Yagi et al., which breaks down the mode of failure and the degree of kyphosis present.<sup>20</sup> While this classification system provides language to describe PJK, it does not guide management or assist with prognostication. Thus, a new classification system was developed by the International Spine Study Group to help address these gaps and guide treatment decisions.<sup>21</sup> This system assigns points to six different categories: neurological deficit, focal pain, instrumentation problem, change in kyphosis/posterior ligament complex integrity, fracture location, and level of UIV. Although studies are still being conducted to evaluate the utility of this classification, a score of  $\geq$ 7 is thought to indicate need for revision surgery.<sup>15,17,21</sup>

The etiology of PJK is likely multifactorial. It is hypothesized that the abrupt transition in relative motion between the instrumented segment, which is rigid, and the noninstrumented segment, which is flexible, may contribute to the development of PJK.<sup>17</sup> Several risk factors have been identified in the development and progression of PJK. Patient factors such as increased age (>55), high body mass index (BMI), osteoporosis, and smoking have been linked with increased incidence of PJK.<sup>15,17</sup> Radiographic features such as the degree of preoperative sagittal imbalance has also been identified as a risk factor.<sup>15,17,18,22</sup> Numerous surgical factors likely play a role as well. First, there appears to be several approach-related considerations in the development of PJK. For example, damage to the posterior soft tissues appear to increase the incidence of PJK. Although meticulous intraoperative dissection may help prevent this concern, structures may still be disrupted when placing pedicle screws for fixation. In addition to soft tissue management, a combined anterior and posterior approach increases the risk three times compared with a posterior-only approach, possibly due to increased rigidity of concurrent anterior and posterior fixation.<sup>15,17,18</sup> Thus, a posterior-only approach is typically recommended when possible. Next, the level of the UIV may also affect the likelihood of PJK. While some argue that starting instrumentation in the upper thoracic versus lower thoracic simply changes the mode of failure, others have shown an increased incidence with the UIV placed lower in the thoracic spine.<sup>17,23</sup> Lastly, construct stiffness is thought to contribute to the development of PJK.<sup>24</sup> All-pedicle-screw (APS) constructs are classically used in long posterior fusions; however, this creates a stiff lever arm that places significant biomechanical stress at the junction between the instrumented fusion and adjacent non-instrumented spine.<sup>18,25</sup> It has been hypothesized that using semi-rigid constructs to "top-off" the fusion construct may decrease the stress at this transition. In doing so, the goal is to create a more gradual change in motion from the rigid construct to the mobile spine and ultimately decrease the risk of PJK.

## **1.4 SEMI-RIGID CONSTRUCTS**

Various semi-rigid constructs have been proposed to help decrease the risk of PJK, including tethers, sublaminar bands, laminar hooks, and transverse process hooks. Within the spine literature, there are promising results on the effectiveness of these constructs. For example, Helgeson et al. performed a multicentre retrospective study including 283 patients who underwent posterior instrumentation with either APS constructs versus a construct with proximal hooks and found significantly higher rates of PJK with the APS construct.<sup>26</sup> These results were further supported by Kim et al.<sup>27</sup> Additionally, sublaminar tapes were investigated by Viswanathan et al. in 40 patients and found reduced incidence of PJK (0%) compared to APS constructs (8%). This study also assessed patient outcomes and reported significantly improved scores in the group with sublaminar tape.<sup>28</sup> Another construct that has been utilized is the transverse process hook. Both Hassanzadeh et al. and Yagi et al. demonstrated significantly lower rates of PJK in patients with this construct compared to patients with the APS construct.<sup>20,29</sup> However in contrast, two other studies found no difference in PJK incidence between APS and transverse process hook constructs.<sup>30,31</sup> Finally, numerous studies looked into tethers. The tethers were typically made of Mersilene tape and placed in various configurations and degrees of tension. Although multiple studies demonstrated significant differences in PJK rates between APS and tethered constructs, these results were not universal.<sup>32,33,34</sup> Furthermore, the ideal tension and configuration of these constructs remain unclear.

While there are encouraging results in many of the above studies, it is important to consider potential disadvantages to these constructs. First, increased exposure may be required for application of semi-rigid constructs as they are placed one level above the standard instrumentation. Furthermore, it is possible that the level instrumented with a semi-rigid construct could eventually fuse. As semi-rigid constructs are designed to allow for motion, a fusion would decrease the benefit of the construct. However, PJK typically occurs early in the post-operative period, whereas a fusion occurs much later; thus, these constructs would provide benefit during the most crucial period.<sup>18,20</sup>

Overall, while there are encouraging results in many of the above studies, the clinical research remains inconsistent. Small sample sizes and short-term follow-up may also affect the quality of the evidence on semi-rigid constructs, necessitating further research into the area. In addition to clinical studies, biomechanical studies can provide important insight into the effects of these constructs as their utility is not yet fully understood.

### **1.5** BIOMECHANICAL RESEARCH

Although it has been postulated that semi-rigid constructs may help prevent PJK in long instrumented spinal fusions, it remains unknown if there is a biomechanical superiority to any one of the constructs that have been utilized. Although the literature is not robust, various biomechanical studies have explored the use of semi-rigid constructs placed at the proximal aspect of an instrumentation fusion compared to the standard APS construct.

Prior to further discussion of the literature, it is important to understand the nomenclature used to describe the levels of instrumentation in the majority of biomechanical studies.<sup>35-40</sup> In general, the most crucial levels to consider are the UIV, UIV+1, and UIV+2. The UIV is defined by the uppermost vertebrae that is instrumented with standard pedicle screws, UIV+1 is the level immediately cephalad where semi-rigid constructs are placed, and UIV+2 has no instrumentation. The rationale for this terminology is best explained by considering the vertebral levels that are involved in the fusion, with the UIV as the last vertebrae included. As semi-rigid constructs are designed to allow for movement, they are not a part of the fusion; instead, they are used to "top-off" the fusion construct. Thus,

semi-rigid constructs are applied at the UIV+1 to help create a smooth transition from the rigid fusion (UIV) to the mobile spine (UIV+2).

#### 1.5.1 TRANSVERSE PROCESS HOOKS

Throughout biomechanical studies, transverse process hooks are widely used. Although one study did not find significant differences between these hooks and APS constructs, many others found positive results.<sup>41</sup> For example, Thawrani et al. and Facchinello et al. both utilized porcine spines to demonstrate significant differences in ROM between the hook and APS constructs.<sup>42,43</sup> They concluded that transverse process hooks provide a more gradual motion transition, which was later supported by a recent human cadaveric study.<sup>36</sup> A finite element analysis by Brummond et al. added to the evidence and found transverse process hooks resulted in decreased pressure within the intravertebral disc at adjacent levels, suggesting that using hooks may reduce mechanical stress.<sup>45</sup>

#### 1.5.2 LAMINAR HOOKS

Mixed results have been found with laminar hooks, with one study demonstrating a beneficial effect toward gradual motion and the other showing no difference from APS.<sup>35,46</sup> In the latter, the authors hypothesized that laminar hooks likely came in contact with the superior lamina to create a blocking effect, leading to stiff motion segments.<sup>37,46</sup>

#### 1.5.3 SUBLAMINAR BANDS

Another popular choice of instrumentation are sublaminar bands, which appeared to provide a protective effect against PJK. Lange et al. tested six different constructs in eight

calf lumbar spines and concluded that sublaminar bands reduced ROM to approximately 40% compared to other implants. From this, they hypothesized that these implants were likely the best option for obtaining a smooth transition of motion.<sup>46</sup> Additionally, Viswanathan et al. found that using sublaminar bands decreased ROM at the adjacent vertebral level while also reducing intervertebral disc pressure, suggesting a gradual transition of motion and decreased mechanical stress.<sup>38</sup> Doodkorte et al. supported these results in their study of seven human thoracolumbar spines. This group compared 1- and 2-level sublaminar tapes that were secured to the rod by either a clamp or knot. They found that all the variations extended transitional zone over multiple segments, except for the 2-level clamped band, which acted similar to the APS construct.<sup>36</sup>

#### 1.5.4 TETHERS

Different configurations of tethers have been trialled across studies with variable success. In several studies, significant differences in ROM were reported in flexion and extension but not in lateral bending or axial rotation; likely due to the fact that they are applied in the sagittal plane.<sup>46</sup> Furthermore, studies by Mar et al. suggest the effect of tethers were directly correlated with the degree of pretension, while other studies noted no significant differences between hand-tied and tensioned tethers.<sup>46,47,48</sup> Thus, as the literature remains inconclusive, further research is required.

### **1.6** THESIS RATIONALE

Long spinal instrumented fusion is the mainstay of treatment for ASD; however, complications such as PJK may lead to poor outcomes, neurologic deficits, and revision surgery. As an abrupt change in motion at the junction between the instrumented and non-instrumented spine segments is thought to contribute to the risk of developing PJK, it is hypothesized that creating a "smooth transition" in motion across the junction may decrease the risk. Thus, semi-rigid constructs have been developed for this purpose.

As highlighted above, several clinical and biomechanical studies have investigated these constructs; however, to our knowledge, no study compares these commonly cited constructs directly in human thoracic spines. Some studies have compared laminar hooks to bands; however, they did not include transverse process hooks.<sup>45</sup> Similarly, one study compared variations of sublaminar bands to transverse process hooks but did not include supralaminar hooks.<sup>36</sup> Furthermore, vastly different protocols utilized between studies make inter-study comparison difficult. Thus, this thesis aims to perform a head-to-head comparison between multiple types of semi-rigid constructs to assess the biomechanical differences and how this relates to PJK and adjacent level disease. It is hypothesized that all semi-rigid constructs will lead to decreased ROM at the junctional level. However, based on previous clinical and biomechanical data, it is expected that transverse process hooks and sublaminar bands will provide the most gradual transition in motion.

## Chapter 2

## 2 METHODS

This chapter provides an overview of the materials and methodology utilized for this thesis.

## 2.1 CONSTRUCT SELECTION

A systematic review was previously completed to determine commonly used semi-rigid constructs.<sup>49</sup> Using this information, four constructs were chosen for this thesis (Figure 6). Most of the constructs selected (transverse process hooks, supralaminar hooks, and sublaminar bands) have been shown to be associated with decreased rates of PJK in clinical studies, as well as provide a more gradual change in motion in biomechanical studies. In addition, short pedicle screws (SS) were selected as they had previously been used clinically at the London Health Sciences Centre (LHSC); however, there were no studies identified that included this construct. All constructs were available at the study institution.

## 2.2 CADAVER PREPARATION

Prior to the onset of the study, approval was granted from the Institutional Research Ethics Board (ID 118078). Twelve full spine cadaveric samples were purchased through Science Care, a donor organization that provides cadavers for medical education and research. All specimens included non-identifiable information regarding their medical history, cause of death, sex, and age. All specimens were stored in a -20° freezer before use.



## Figure 6: Semi-Rigid Constructs

The following semi-rigid constructs were selected for use: sublaminar bands (A), short pedicle screws (B), supralaminar hooks (C), and transverse process hooks (D).

Full cadaveric specimens were then subject to a Computed Tomography (CT) scan to rule out bone tumours, fractures, or any internal bony abnormalities. The spines were scanned using a GE Lightspeed VCT 64 slice CT Scanner with a slice thickness of 0.625mm. The protocol used for clinical complete spine imaging at LHSC was followed. All soft tissues were kept intact during the scanning process. Once complete, the specimens were sectioned into cervical, thoracic, and lumbosacral segments. Sectioning was carefully completed through the intervertebral disc space in order to preserve bony structures. For this study, the isolated thoracic spine (T1-T12) was selected for use.

Once specimens were evaluated by CT scan, medical history, and visual inspection, three specimens were excluded from use in the current study. One specimen was excluded due to a history of a primary bone disorder (Paget's disease), one was excluded due to irregular vertebral body anatomy, and one was excluded due to a significant spinal deformity. Thus, a total of nine specimens were included in the study. The average age of the donors was 63.8 years. The demographics of these specimens can be found in Table 1.

## Table 1:

## Cadaveric Specimen Demographics

Specimen	Age (years)	Sex	Cause of Death
1	66	Female	Cardiovascular Disease
2	62	Male	Respiratory Failure
3	68	Male	Respiratory Failure
4	65	Male	Cholangiocarcinoma
5	71	Male	Cardiopulmonary Arrest
6	33	Male	Blunt Force Trauma
7	78	Male	Lymphoma
8	63	Female	Pulmonary Disease
9	69	Male	Dilated Cardiomyopathy

Next, the specimen were cleaned and prepared for testing. All specimen were thawed for at least 24 hours prior to preparation and testing. The majority of the musculature was dissected off of the specimen and care was taken to leave the facet capsules, posterior ligamentous complex, and costovertebral joints intact. The most cranial (T1) and caudal (T12) vertebrae were then potted in cement with the endplates parallel to the ground, which was accomplished using a laser level (Figure 7). Several drywall screws had been drilled into the vertebrae prior to potting to increase fixation. The native spine was then tested prior to any instrumentation according to the testing protocol described in Section 2.4.



Figure 7: Preparation of Cadaveric Specimen

Complete cadaveric thoracic spines (T1 - T12) were cleaned by dissecting off musculature and potted into cement at both the cranial (T1) and caudal (T12) ends of the spine.

#### 2.3 INSTRUMENTATION

A multi-level pedicle screw fixation was performed from T6 - T9, making T6 the UIV. The start point for the pedicle screws was identified based on anatomical landmarks previously described and placed free hand as per standard surgical technique.<sup>50</sup> The screw track was examined for breaches using a pedicle probe, rotating the probe in a stepwise progression around 360°. The depth of the track was then measured, and an appropriate length of screw was chosen, ranging from 35mm to 45mm. The pedicle screws were inserted by hand with care taken to maintain a constant angle and speed until the screw was seated.

Further instrumentation occurred in a semi-random order using a ladder formation, with no specimen undergoing the same sequence (Table 2). All semi-rigid constructs were placed at T5 (UIV+1) (See Figures 8 and 9). Specimen were subjected to testing immediately following instrumentation of a construct prior to placement of the next construct. Instrumentation of each construct was completed as described in the steps below:

- All-pedicle-screw (APS): A titanium 5.5mm rod was attached to the pedicle screws, spanning T6 – T9.
- Transverse process hook (TPH): A scalpel was used to reveal the edge of the transverse process and create space between the transverse process and rib head. The hooks were then placed at the midpoint on the transverse process bilaterally. Once secured, the rod was attached to the TPH.

- Sublaminar band (SB): A 5mm Mersilene® tape (Ethicon, Sommerville, NJ) was utilized, as previously described in the literature.<sup>38,47,48</sup> A hemilaminectomy was performed on the superior lamina with a Kerrison bone punch. A suture needle attached to the band was then passed under the T5 lamina and retrieved at the cranial edge. The needle was cut off, and the band was looped around the rod. Two square knots were thrown, followed by three half-hitches with the final on an alternating post.
- Supralaminar hook (SLH): In order to facilitate placement of the supralaminar hook, a hemilaminectomy of the superior lamina was performed using a Kerrison bone punch. The ligamentum flavum was removed from the cranial edge of the T5 lamina. Hooks were then placed over the cranial edge of the lamina bilaterally and attached to the rod.
- Short pedicle screw (SS): Screws were placed using the same sequence of steps described for the multi-level fixation; however, screw length and size were standardized to a 5.5mm diameter, 25mm pedicle screw. A rod was then attached to the pedicle screws.
## Table 2

### Semi-Random Testing

Specimen #1	Specimen #2	Specimen #3
1. Native	1. Native	1. Native
2. SS	2. SB	2. TPH
3. SLH	3. SS	3. SB
4. APS	4. SLH	4. SS
5. TPH	5. APS	5. SLH
6. SB	6. TPH	6. APS

Note: A sequence for instrumentation was generated, with subsequent specimen undergoing a different sequence using a ladder formation as shown in the table below. A new sequence was generated once the ladder was complete.



#### Figure 8: Instrumentation of Semi-Rigid Constructs

Semi-rigid constructs were instrumented at the level of T5. Transverse process hooks (TPH) were placed on the transverse process (A), short pedicle screws (SS) were placed into the pedicle and vertebral body (B), sublaminar bands (SB) were placed around the lamina (C), and supralaminar hooks (SLH) were placed over the lamina (D).



Figure 9: Cadaveric Instrumentation of Semi-Rigid Constructs

Thoracic spine cadavers instrumented with semi-rigid constructs at the level of T5, connected to the multi-level fixation from T6 – T9. Constructs include: TPH (A), SS (B), SB (C), and SLH (D).

# 2.4 TESTING PROTOCOL

The potted spines were then mounted onto a testing machine with custom-design modifications (Instron® 5967, Norwood, MA, USA) (Figure 9). Loads were individually applied in axial rotation, flexion-extension, and lateral bending according to a pure moment protocol. Non-destructive controlled motion of 1°/second was applied until a load limit of 5Nm was reached, based on previous protocols.<sup>51</sup> Each test was repeated for three cycles, with the first two cycles used for preconditioning and data from the third cycle used for motion analysis. Testing was completed over approximately six hours per specimen.

ARAMIS Adjustable 12M system (GOM Metrology, Braunschweig, Germany) was used as a digital imaging camera (DIC) system to track intersegmental motion between vertebrae. Two cameras with a focal length of 24mm and resolution of 4096-by-3600 pixels (pixel size of 3.45 µm) were used. The cameras were set at a 25° angle, 3 Hz, and illuminated with two polarized LED light sources. Prior to each test, the DIC setup was calibrated using a standard calibration protocol and calibration plate provided by GOM Metrology for a measuring volume of 570-by-430-by-430 mm<sup>3</sup>. Images were then processed in ARAMIS Professional 2019 (GOM Metrology, Braunschweig, Germany).

# 2.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

SPSS statistical software (v27) was used for analysis. Each specimen acted as its own control. Statistical significance was established at  $\leq 0.05$ . Data was normalized to account for inter-specimen variation and was calculated by dividing by the ROM of the native state. Normalized ROMs were analyzed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to compare the ROM of the intersegments for each construct. Stiffness (K) was calculated using the formula K= $\Delta$ M/ $\Delta$ ROM, where  $\Delta$ M and  $\Delta$ ROM is the difference in the moments and ROM between points, respectively. A linear regression analysis was completed for levels T3 – T7. These levels were selected to highlight the transitional segments from T4 – T6. Linearity was expressed through the coefficient of determination (R<sup>2</sup>), with a value approaching 1.00 indicating a high linear correlation.



#### Figure 10: Biomechanical Testing Set-Up

The complete thoracic spine was mounted onto the custom table-top testing machine (Instron) and secured to the top and baseplates. Loads were applied in all planes of motion and an optical tracking system monitored intersegmental motion.

# Chapter 3

# **3** RESULTS

This chapter details the results of the biomechanical testing. All specimens (n = 9) underwent three cycles of testing. All tests were completed successfully. When reviewing the below results, it is important to recall that T6 is the UIV (i.e. last vertebrae instrumented with a standard pedicle screw), whereas the semi-rigid constructs (SB, SLH, SS, and TPH) are instrumented at T5 (UIV+1).

# 3.1 RANGE OF MOTION

The distribution of data (median and interquartile range) can be seen in Figures 10 - 12. Mean normalized ROMs are reported as a percentage of the native state ROM and are displayed in Figures 13 - 15. In flexion-extension, there were no significant differences in ROM between APS and SB at any level. In contrast, SLH (M = 11.48, SD = 26.61, p <.001), SS (M = 18.03, SD = 10.94, p < .001) and TPH (M = 50.06, SD = 27.64, p < .001) were all found to have significantly reduced ROM compared to APS (M = 116.90, SD =26.61) at the level of T5 – T6. Additionally, SLH and SS were also significantly reduced compared to TPH (p = .006, p = .03, respectively). At T4 – T5, SLH was found to have significantly reduced ROM (M = 30.69, SD = 19.62) compared to all other constructs. Flexion and extension were then separated as isolated movements, as seen in Figure 16. In both isolated flexion and extension, similar results were found. SLH, SS, and TPH were found to have significantly reduced ROM at T5 – T6 compared to APS and SB, while SLH was found to have significantly reduced ROM at T4 – T5 compared to all other constructs. In lateral bending, a similar pattern was found. Significantly reduced motion was seen with SLH (M = 23.19, SD = 15.04, p < .001), SS (M = 22.39, SD = 8.68, p < .001), and TPH (M = 45.03, SD = 22.69, p < .001) compared to APS (M = 105.11, SD = 18.59) at T5 – T6. Furthermore, SLH (p = .04) and SS (p = .03) had significantly lower ROM compared to TPH at T5 – T6. At T4 – T5, SLH (M = 70.46, SD = 13.63) was significantly reduced compared to all other constructs. No significant differences were found between APS and SB.

In axial rotation, SLH (M = 38.42, SD = 17.24, p < .001), SS (M = 31.38, SD = 13.06, p < .001), and TPH (M = 47.81, SD = 21.38, p < .001) had significantly reduced ROM compared to APS (M = 101.92, SD = 9.01) at T5 – T6. No significant difference was found between APS and SB. SLH (M = 48.78, SD = 18.73) was again found to have significantly lower ROM than all other constructs at T4 – T5.

There were no significant differences between constructs at the levels above T4. Similar ROM was found throughout the fused segments (T6 - T9) for all conditions with no significant differences seen. As all significant changes in motion occurred between levels T4 - T6, this was defined as the "transition zone". All absolute values (mean and standard deviation) for the transitional levels can be found in Appendix B.

#### Flexion-Extension



#### Figure 11: Distribution of Data in Flexion-Extension

Boxplots indicate median and interquartile range from T4 – T7. Constructs include: allpedicle screw (APS), sublaminar band (SB), supralaminar hook (SLH), short pedicle screw (SS), and transverse process hook (TPH).



### Figure 12: Distribution of Data in Lateral Bending

Boxplots indicate median and interquartile range from T4 – T7. Constructs include: allpedicle screw (APS), sublaminar band (SB), supralaminar hook (SLH), short pedicle screw (SS), and transverse process hook (TPH).



#### Figure 13: Distribution of Data in Axial Rotation

Boxplots indicate median and interquartile range from T4 – T7. Constructs include: allpedicle screw (APS), sublaminar band (SB), supralaminar hook (SLH), short pedicle screw (SS), and transverse process hook (TPH).



Figure 14: Normalized Range of Motion in Flexion-Extension

Line graphs indicate normalized mean ROM from T3 – T7. Constructs include: allpedicle screw (APS), sublaminar band (SB), supralaminar hook (SLH), short pedicle screw (SS), and transverse process hook (TPH). \* = Significant difference from APS and SB, \*\* = Significant difference from APS, SB, and TPH, \*\*\* = Significant difference from all constructs.



#### Figure 15: Normalized Range of Motion in Lateral Bending

Line graphs indicate normalized mean ROM from T3 – T7. Constructs include: allpedicle screw (APS), sublaminar band (SB), supralaminar hook (SLH), short pedicle screw (SS), and transverse process hook (TPH). \* = Significant difference from APS and SB, \*\* = Significant difference from APS, SB, and TPH, \*\*\* = Significant difference from all constructs.



Figure 16: Normalized Range of Motion in Axial Rotation

Line graphs indicate normalized mean ROM from T3 – T7. Constructs include: allpedicle screw (APS), sublaminar band (SB), supralaminar hook (SLH), short pedicle screw (SS), and transverse process hook (TPH). \* = Significant difference from APS and SB, \*\* = Significant difference from APS, SB, and TPH, \*\*\* = Significant difference from all constructs.





Figure 17: Normalized ROM in Flexion and Extension

Line graphs representing normalized mean ROM in flexion (A) and extension (B) as isolated directions of motion. Constructs include: all-pedicle screw (APS), sublaminar band (SB), supralaminar hook (SLH), short pedicle screw (SS), and transverse process hook (TPH). \* = Significant difference from APS and SB, \*\* = Significant difference from APS, SB, and TPH, \*\*\* = Significant difference from all constructs.

# 3.2 STIFFNESS

The stiffness of each construct was calculated and compared using average normalized values from the entire thoracic spine (T1 - T12). Normalized values were utilized to limit the inherent variation between specimens. Mean stiffness values are reported in Newtonmetres per degree (Nm/°). In all directions of motion, SLH was found to have maximal stiffness. In flexion-extension, SLH was found to have the highest degree of stiffness (M = 148.66, SD = 31.94) as compared to APS (M = 120.24, SD = 17.21), as seen in Figure 17. Significant differences were found between the overall stiffness of SLH compared to the native spine (p < .001). Additionally, SS (M = 137.32, SD = 27.19) and the native spine were significantly different (p = 0.016). In lateral bending, the greatest degree of stiffness was seen with SLH (M = 137.72, SD = 15.55). This was significantly different than both APS (M = 116.8, SD = 12.33, p = .026) and SB (M = 117.8, SD = 13.18, p = .026) .037) (Figure 18). Finally, SLH was the stiffest in axial rotation (M = 156.25, SD =12.62). It was significantly stiffer than APS (M = 126.01, SD = 5.27, p < .001) and SB (M= 127.52, SD = 6.51, p < .001) and TPH (M = 137.88, SD = 12.19, p < .001). Furthermore, SS (M = 141.80, SD = 10.09) was found to be significantly stiffer than APS (p = .006). All constructs had significantly increased stiffness as compared to the native

spine in axial rotation (Figure 19).



#### **Figure 18: Stiffness in Flexion-Extension**

Columns represent stiffness calculated using average normalized ROM values in flexionextension. Each error bar is constructed using a 95% confidence interval of the mean. Constructs include: all-pedicle screw (APS), sublaminar band (SB), supralaminar hook (SLH), short pedicle screw (SS), and transverse process hook (TPH). Bars denoted by a common letter indicates no significant difference between constructs.



#### Figure 19: Stiffness in Lateral Bending

Columns represent stiffness calculated using average normalized ROM values in lateral bending. Each error bar is constructed using a 95% confidence interval of the mean. Significance was set to p=0.05. Constructs include: all-pedicle screw (APS), sublaminar band (SB), supralaminar hook (SLH), short pedicle screw (SS), and transverse process hook (TPH). Bars denoted by a common letter indicates no significant difference between constructs.



### Figure 20: Stiffness in Axial Rotation

Columns represent stiffness calculated using average normalized ROM values in axial rotation. Each error bar is constructed using a 95% confidence interval of the mean. Significance was set to p=0.05. Constructs include: all-pedicle screw (APS), sublaminar band (SB), supralaminar hook (SLH), short pedicle screw (SS), and transverse process hook (TPH). Bars denoted by a common letter indicates no significant difference between constructs.

# 3.3 LINEAR REGRESSION

A linear regression model was created from T3 – T7. Average absolute values were used. All  $R^2$  values can be found in Table 2. The linear regression yielded higher  $R^2$  values for TPH, SS, and SB constructs compared to APS in all directions of motion. More specifically, TPH was found to have the highest  $R^2$  values across all constructs (flexionextension, 0.999; lateral bending, 0.980; axial rotation, 0.986) compared to APS (flexionextension, 0.745; lateral bending, 0.945; axial rotation, 0.669).

#### Table 3

## *Linear Regression Coefficient of Determination (R<sup>2</sup>)*

А	В			С	
Construct	R <sup>2</sup>	Construct	<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>	Construct	R <sup>2</sup>
APS	0.745	APS	0.945	APS	0.669
SB	0.877	SB	0.948	SB	0.711
SLH	0.794	SLH	0.932	SLH	0.862
SS	0.956	SS	0.949	SS	0.912
ТРН	0.999	ТРН	0.981	TPH	0.986

Note: A linear regression analysis of ROM was performed from T3 – T7, with R<sup>2</sup> values displayed below, for flexion-extension (A), lateral bending (B), and axial rotation (C). Constructs include: all-pedicle screw (APS), sublaminar band (SB), supralaminar hook (SLH), short pedicle screw (SS), and transverse process hook (TPH).

# Chapter 4

# 4 DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

This chapter includes a summary and discussion of the results presented, limitations of the study, and suggests directions for future biomechanical and clinical research.

# 4.1 DISCUSSION AND SUMMARY

Long posterior instrumentation and fusion is the mainstay of treatment for ASD. The standard technique for this procedure involves using pedicle screws spanned by a long rod for fusion.<sup>52,53</sup> However, this creates a rigid lever arm that places mechanical stress on adjacent vertebrae. It is thought that the stress and hypermobility experienced at the levels cephalad to the fusion construct may increase the risk of developing PJK postoperatively.<sup>54</sup> This is an important complication to consider as it can lead to poor patient outcomes, revision surgery, and increased healthcare costs.<sup>9,55</sup> Due to the gravity of this complication, strategies to reduce the risk of PJK have been explored, such as the use of semi-rigid constructs. It is hypothesized that using semi-rigid constructs at the proximal aspect of instrumentation may lead to a smoother transition between the long rigid fusion and the mobile spine.

This study demonstrated that several semi-rigid constructs reduced ROM over the transitional levels. In particular, SLH, SS, and TPH were found to decrease ROM at UIV+1, while SLH was found to significantly decrease ROM over both UIV+1 and UIV+2. Although at first glance it may appear beneficial that SLH decreased motion over

two levels, these results should be assessed critically. Looking further into this, SLH resulted in a small amount of motion occurring at UIV+2; however, a substantial amount occurred at UIV+3. In other words, there was a large increase in motion between UIV+2 and UIV+3. This was even more pronounced when analyzing isolated flexion and extension. For example, in extension, SLH reduced motion to 24.50% at T4 – T5, but climbed to 105.23% at T3 – T4. This raises the question that SLH simply shifts the abrupt change seen with APS to a higher level, rather than gradually changing across levels.

To help better understand this transition, a linear regression was performed. These results showed a nonlinear change in motion with SLH; thus, it can be hypothesized that the transition in motion was not gradual. In comparison to the literature, Metzger et al. found that SLH did produce a gradual change; however, the authors reported ROM from just UIV to UIV+2, at which point only 40% of intact motion was achieved.<sup>37</sup> Consequently, it is possible that a large increase in ROM may have occurred at UIV+3, but was not captured in their results. In other studies, SLH was found to have comparable stiffness to APS.<sup>45</sup> To explain this, the authors suggested that the hooks likely came into contact with the superior lamina. This contact would subsequently block motion at adjacent levels, most notably in extension. This theory is of particular interest to the current study, as the most extreme reduction in ROM occurred with SLH in extension. Hence, it is possible that this phenomenon occurred. Unfortunately, this reduction in extension could have negative clinical consequences as it may lead to a greater degree of kyphosis at the adjacent level.

In comparison, TPH was found to reduce motion at adjacent levels, but was not as stiff as SLH. This mirrors the results of previous biomechanical studies, which have demonstrated a gradual change in motion with TPH as compared to APS.<sup>36,42,43</sup> In one of these studies, Doodkorte et al. compared TPH, APS, and various configurations of sublaminar tape and found TPH had the highest R<sup>2</sup> value amongst all constructs.<sup>36</sup> The present study found similar results, indicating that motion increased progressively in a linear fashion. It should be noted that comparing the R<sup>2</sup> values alone does not necessarily provide meaningful information, but in combination with ROM and stiffness analyses, further insight is gained on how the constructs affect motion. From a clinical perspective, several studies have shown decreased rates of PJK with TPH compared to APS constructs. It is suggested that the more limited dissection required for application of these hooks may contribute to their success and possibly increase stability at adjacent levels, as compared to pedicle screws.<sup>29,54</sup>

Other semi-rigid constructs investigated included SS and SB. In this study, SS was found to have similar levels of stiffness compared to SLH in all directions of motion. Furthermore, with the exception of SLH, it significantly decreased ROM compared to all constructs. Although it was hypothesized that using a shorter length of pedicle screw may be more flexible, the current study did not support this. It is possible that the rigidity seen with SS may be secondary to the length of the pedicle screw chosen, as a 25 mm screw may result in 3-column fixation and act similar to a standard pedicle screw. To our knowledge, no other study has included SS; however, a study out of Turkey found that leaving two screw threads out of the cortex at the UIV led to a more gradual change in

motion as compared to fully seated screws.<sup>55</sup> While this thesis does not support the use of SS as a semi-rigid construct, future studies could be considered using modifications to pedicle screws and their length.

SB was not significantly different than APS in stiffness or ROM. This could be explained by the tension on the bands when applied. Although previous studies utilized hand-tied bands, others used industrial products (ex. Universal Clamp®, Zimmer Biomet, Indiana, USA) or custom-made tensioning devices to secure them.<sup>36,39,45</sup> The use of these tools likely results in a higher degree of tension compared to hand-tying, which may lead to a greater ability to reduce ROM. This theory is supported by a biomechanical study by Mar et al. that used cadaveric functional spine units (FSU) to study spinous process tether pretension, and found that the degree of tension applied significantly affected ROM.<sup>47</sup> Although their protocol differed from the current study, as they utilized spinous process tethers on a FSU, the principles may still be applicable. Ultimately, while the present study did not find that SB resulted in a gradual change in motion, it is possible that this was due to the method in which they were applied. Future studies could consider the use of a custom-tensioning device to ensure fair comparison.

While there are many variations of constructs that have been included in the literature, this thesis focused on commonly cited constructs. However, it should be noted that posterior tethers were not selected as a construct, despite their popularity elsewhere. As placement of these tethers requires disruption to the posterior ligamentous complex, it is possible that their application could affect the integrity of the specimen for the remainder of testing.<sup>56-58</sup> Therefore, they were not selected to ensure appropriate testing conditions for other constructs.

## 4.2 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

This thesis provides further insight into semi-rigid constructs and their application to decrease the risk of developing PJK postoperatively. However, it was not without limitations. First, there was a small sample size due to the use of cadavers, which could affect statistical analysis. However, the sample size used was deemed appropriate for the goal of this thesis as it followed recommendations for biomechanical spine research.<sup>51,59</sup> Furthermore, the size was in keeping with previously published biomechanical studies that investigated semi-rigid constructs. With that being said, larger studies could be performed in the future.

Next, the quality of the cadaveric soft tissues must be considered. For example, paraspinal musculature is thought to play a role in the development of PJK; however, in this protocol, paraspinal muscles were dissected off of the cadaveric specimens in order to facilitate instrumentation and testing, which ultimately may not reflect in-vivo conditions.<sup>60</sup> Additionally, the posterior ligamentous complex could be disrupted with repetitive testing over time. Since this complex is thought to be crucial in protecting against PJK, it is possible that results could be affected if damage occurred.<sup>56,57</sup> In order to mitigate this potential concern, instrumentation was completed in a semi-random order.

Finally, T3 or T4 is typically selected for semi-rigid instrumentation in a clinical setting, whereas this protocol selected T5. This was done to ensure that ROM could be measured at least two levels above, while leaving sufficient room for the most proximal vertebrae to be potted. Although this was a pragmatic decision based on available resources, it is still supported by biomechanical studies that have suggested upper thoracic spine segments (T1 – T6) have similar kinematics, which differs from the lower thoracic spine, <sup>61</sup> Furthermore, there is limited research on semi-rigid instrumentation in the upper thoracic spine, despite PJK commonly occurring in this region.<sup>62</sup> To our knowledge, only one other biomechanical study has selected the UIV/UIV+1 between T1 – T6.<sup>41</sup> Therefore, this protocol provides valuable insight into the use of semi-rigid constructs in the upper thoracic spine, despite the difference in the level of the UIV/UIV+1 from clinical practice. Additionally, no other study was identified that included the entire thoracic spine, with the costovertebral joints intact, which may better reflect physiologic conditions.<sup>63</sup>

This study adds novel information to the current body of literature on semi-rigid constructs and PJK. Future biomechanical studies should be considered to compare the failure mechanism of various semi-rigid constructs, as this could not be addressed in the current study. In addition, clinical studies should be completed to help better understand the effects of semi-rigid constructs on adjacent level disease and PJK.

# 4.3 CONCLUSIONS

Semi-rigid constructs have been proposed as a method to decrease the risk of PJK following long spinal fusions. This biomechanical study supports previous research that demonstrates semi-rigid constructs can decrease ROM at adjacent levels and possibly provide a more gradual change in motion. In particular, consistent results have been seen with TPH across numerous studies.<sup>36,42,43</sup> As it is currently believed that hypermobility at the transition between the instrumented and non-instrumented spine is a risk factor for PJK, it can be hypothesized that TPH may help decrease the risk of PJK by reducing motion and mechanical stress at this junction. In contrast, although SLH substantially decreases ROM, it may lead to increased stress at superior levels. Overall, this study provides spine surgeons with a direct biomechanical comparison of commonly used semi-rigid constructs and suggests that TPH is best able to provide a smooth transition in motion. Therefore, TPH should be considered over other constructs to top-off long rigid spinal fusions to help decrease the risk of PJK. By reducing this risk, patients may have improved outcomes with fewer revision surgeries required; subsequently reducing the morbidity and economic burden associated with PJK.

### References

- Waxenbaum, J. A., Reddy, V., & Futterman, B. (2022). Anatomy, Back, Thoracic Vertebrae. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK459153/
- Miller, J. S., Chiou-Tan, F., Zhang, H., & Taber, K. H. (2007). Sectional neuroanatomy of the lower thoracic spine and chest. *Journal of Computer Assisted Tomography*, *31*(1), 160–164. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.rct.0000237813.26301.73
- Panjabi, M. M., & White, A. A. (1980). Basic biomechanics of the spine. *Neurosurgery*, 7(1), 76–93. https://doi.org/10.1227/00006123-198007000-00014
- Liebsch, C., Graf, N., Appelt, K., & Wilke, H.-J. (2017). The rib cage stabilizes the human thoracic spine: An in vitro study using stepwise reduction of rib cage structures. *PloS One*, *12*(6), e0178733. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0178733
- Sham, M. L., Zander, T., Rohlmann, A., & Bergmann, G. (2005). Effects of the rib cage on thoracic spine flexibility. *Biomedizinische Technik. Biomedical Engineering*, 50(11), 361–365. https://doi.org/10.1515/BMT.2005.051
- Kim, H. J., Yang, J. H., Chang, D.-G., Suk, S.-I., Suh, S. W., Song, K.-S., Park, J.-B., & Cho, W. (2020). Adult Spinal Deformity: Current Concepts and Decision-Making Strategies for Management. *Asian Spine Journal*, *14*(6), 886–897. https://doi.org/10.31616/asj.2020.0568
- Good, C. R., Auerbach, J. D., O'Leary, P. T., & Schuler, T. C. (2011). Adult spine deformity. *Current Reviews in Musculoskeletal Medicine*, 4(4), 159–167.

- Diebo, B. G., Shah, N. V., Boachie-Adjei, O., Zhu, F., Rothenfluh, D. A., Paulino, C. B., Schwab, F. J., & Lafage, V. (2019). Adult spinal deformity. *The Lancet*, *394*(10193), 160– 172. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31125-0
- Youssef, J. A., Orndorff, D. O., Patty, C. A., Scott, M. A., Price, H. L., Hamlin, L. F., Williams, T. L., Uribe, J. S., & Deviren, V. (2013). Current Status of Adult Spinal Deformity. *Global Spine Journal*, 3(1), 051–062. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1326950
- Smith, J. S., Shaffrey, C. I., Ames, C. P., & Lenke, L. G. (2019). Treatment of adult thoracolumbar spinal deformity: Past, present, and future: JNSPG 75th Anniversary Invited Review Article. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine*, *30*(5), 551–567. https://doi.org/10.3171/2019.1.SPINE181494
- Everett, C. R., & Patel, R. K. (2007). A Systematic Literature Review of Nonsurgical Treatment in Adult Scoliosis: *Spine*, *32*(Supplement), S130–S134. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e318134ea88
- Bradford, D. S., Tay, B. K.-B., & Hu, S. S. (1999). Adult Scoliosis: Surgical Indications, Operative Management, Complications, and Outcomes: *Spine*, *24*(24), 2617. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007632-199912150-00009
- Albert, T. J., Purtill, J., Mesa, J., McIntosh, T., & Balderston, R. A. (1995). Health Outcome Assessment Before and After Adult Deformity Surgery: A Prospective Study. *Spine*, 20(18), 2002–2004. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007632-199509150-00009
- 14. Glattes, R. C., Bridwell, K. H., Lenke, L. G., Kim, Y. J., Rinella, A., & Edwards, C. (2005). Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in Adult Spinal Deformity Following Long Instrumented Posterior Spinal Fusion: Incidence, Outcomes, and Risk Factor Analysis. *Spine*, *30*(14), 1643–1649. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.brs.0000169451.76359.49

- Hyun, S.-J., Lee, B. H., Park, J.-H., Kim, K.-J., Jahng, T.-A., & Kim, H.-J. (2017).
   Proximal Junctional Kyphosis and Proximal Junctional Failure Following Adult Spinal Deformity Surgery. *Korean Journal of Spine*, *14*(4), 126–132.
- 16. Segreto, F. A., Passias, P. G., Lafage, R., Lafage, V., Smith, J. S., Line, B. G., Mundis, G. M., Bortz, C. A., Stekas, N. D., Horn, S. R., Diebo, B. G., Brown, A. E., Ihejirika, Y., Nunley, P. D., Daniels, A. H., Gupta, M. C., Gum, J. L., Hamilton, D. K., Klineberg, E. O., ... Ames, C. P. (2020). Incidence of Acute, Progressive, and Delayed Proximal Junctional Kyphosis Over an 8-Year Period in Adult Spinal Deformity Patients. *Operative Neurosurgery*, *18*(1), 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/ons/opz128
- 17. Kim, H. J., & Iyer, S. (2016). Proximal Junctional Kyphosis: *Journal of the American* Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, 24(5), 318–326. https://doi.org/10.5435/JAAOS-D-14-00393
- Kim, Y. J., Bridwell, K. H., Lenke, L. G., Glattes, C. R., Rhim, S., & Cheh, G. (2008). Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in Adult Spinal Deformity After Segmental Posterior Spinal Instrumentation and Fusion: Minimum Five-Year Follow-up. *Spine*, *33*(20), 2179–2184. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e31817c0428
- Theologis, A. A., Miller, L., Callahan, M., Lau, D., Zygourakis, C., Scheer, J. K., Burch, S., Pekmezci, M., Chou, D., Tay, B., Mummaneni, P., Berven, S., Deviren, V., & Ames, C. P. (2016). Economic Impact of Revision Surgery for Proximal Junctional Failure After Adult Spinal Deformity Surgery: A Cost Analysis of 57 Operations in a 10-year Experience at a Major Deformity Center. *Spine*, *41*(16), E964–E972.
- 20. Yagi, M., Akilah, K. B., & Boachie-Adjei, O. (2011). Incidence, Risk Factors and Classification of Proximal Junctional Kyphosis: Surgical Outcomes Review of Adult

Idiopathic Scoliosis. Spine, 36(1), E60–E68.

https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181eeaee2

- Nguyen, N.-L. M., Kong, C. Y., & Hart, R. A. (2016). Proximal junctional kyphosis and failure—Diagnosis, prevention, and treatment. *Current Reviews in Musculoskeletal Medicine*, 9(3), 299–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12178-016-9353-8
- 22. Hyun, S.-J., Kim, Y. J., & Rhim, S.-C. (2016). Patients with proximal junctional kyphosis after stopping at thoracolumbar junction have lower muscularity, fatty degeneration at the thoracolumbar area. *The Spine Journal*, *16*(9), 1095–1101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2016.05.008
- Bridwell, K. H., Lenke, L. G., Cho, S. K., Pahys, J. M., Zebala, L. P., Dorward, I. G., Cho, W., Baldus, C., Hill, B. W., & Kang, M. M. (2013). Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in Primary Adult Deformity Surgery: Evaluation of 20 Degrees as a Critical Angle. *Neurosurgery*, 72(6), 899–906. https://doi.org/10.1227/NEU.0b013e31828bacd8
- Mehta, V. A., Wang, T. Y., Sankey, E. W., Goodwin, C. R., Abd-El-Barr, M. M., & Karikari, I. O. (2021). Prevention of Proximal Junctional Kyphosis or Failure: Soft Landings and Tension Band Augmentation. *Techniques in Orthopaedics*, *36*(1), 30–34. https://doi.org/10.1097/BTO.000000000000526
- 25. Vercoulen, T. F. G., Doodkorte, R. J. P., Roth, A., de Bie, R., & Willems, P. C. (2021). Instrumentation Techniques to Prevent Proximal Junctional Kyphosis and Proximal Junctional Failure in Adult Spinal Deformity Correction: A Systematic Review of Clinical Studies. *Global Spine Journal*, 219256822110345. https://doi.org/10.1177/21925682211034500

- Helgeson, M. D., Shah, S. A., Newton, P. O., Clements, D. H., Betz, R. R., Marks, M. C., & Bastrom, T. (2010). Evaluation of Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis Following Pedicle Screw, Hook, or Hybrid Instrumentation: *Spine*, *35*(2), 177–181. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181c77f8c
- 27. Kim, Y. J., Lenke, L. G., Bridwell, K. H., Kim, J., Cho, S. K., Cheh, G., & Yoon, J. (2007). Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis After 3 Different Types of Posterior Segmental Spinal Instrumentation and Fusions: Incidence and Risk Factor Analysis of 410 Cases. *Spine*, *32*(24), 2731–2738. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e31815a7ead
- 28. Viswanathan, V. K., Kukreja, S., Minnema, A. J., & Farhadi, H. F. (2018). Prospective assessment of the safety and early outcomes of sublaminar band placement for the prevention of proximal junctional kyphosis. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine*, 28(5), 520–531. https://doi.org/10.3171/2017.8.SPINE17672
- Hassanzadeh, H., Gupta, S., Jain, A., El Dafrawy, M. H., Skolasky, R. L., & Kebaish, K. M. (2013). Type of Anchor at the Proximal Fusion Level Has a Significant Effect on the Incidence of Proximal Junctional Kyphosis and Outcome in Adults After Long Posterior Spinal Fusion. *Spine Deformity*, 1(4), 299–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jspd.2013.05.008
- 30. Matsumura, A., Namikawa, T., Kato, M., Oyama, S., Hori, Y., Yabu, A., Hidaka, N., & Nakamura, H. (2018). Effect of Different Types of Upper Instrumented Vertebrae
  Instruments on Proximal Junctional Kyphosis Following Adult Spinal Deformity Surgery:
  Pedicle Screw versus Transverse Process Hook. *Asian Spine Journal*, *12*(4), 622–631.
  https://doi.org/10.31616/asj.2018.12.4.622

- 31. Tsutsui, S., Hashizume, H., Yukawa, Y., Minamide, A., Nakagawa, Y., Iwasaki, H., Takami, M., & Yamada, H. (2022). Optimal Anchor at the Uppermost Instrumented Vertebra in Long Fusion From the Pelvis to the Lower Thoracic Spine in Elderly Patients With Degenerative Spinal Deformity: Hook Versus Pedicle Screw. *Clinical Spine Surgery: A Spine Publication*, *35*(1), E280–E284. https://doi.org/10.1097/BSD.00000000001204
- 32. Viswanathan, V. K., Kukreja, S., Minnema, A. J., & Farhadi, H. F. (2018). Prospective assessment of the safety and early outcomes of sublaminar band placement for the prevention of proximal junctional kyphosis. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine*, 28(5), 520–531. https://doi.org/10.3171/2017.8.SPINE17672
- 33. Iyer, S., Lovecchio, F., Elysée, J. C., Lafage, R., Steinhaus, M., Schwab, F. J., Lafage, V., & Kim, H. J. (2020). Posterior Ligamentous Reinforcement of the Upper Instrumented Vertebrae +1 Does Not Decrease Proximal Junctional Kyphosis in Adult Spinal Deformity. *Global Spine Journal*, *10*(6), 692–699. https://doi.org/10.1177/2192568219868472
- 34. Shlobin, N. A., Le, N., Scheer, J. K., & Tan, L. A. (2022). State of the Evidence for Proximal Junctional Kyphosis Prevention in Adult Spinal Deformity Surgery: A Systematic Review of Current Literature. *World Neurosurgery*, *161*, 179-189.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2022.02.063
- 35. Daniels, A. H., Patel, S. A., Reid, D. B. C., Gao, B., Kuris, E. O., Babu, J. M., & Depasse, J. M. (2019). Proximal junctional failure prevention in adult spinal deformity surgery utilizing interlaminar fixation constructs. *Orthopedic Reviews*, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.4081/or.2019.8068

- 36. Doodkorte, R. J. P., Roth, A. K., Arts, J. J., Lataster, L. M. A., van Rhijn, L. W., & Willems, P. C. (2021). Biomechanical comparison of semirigid junctional fixation techniques to prevent proximal junctional failure after thoracolumbar adult spinal deformity correction. *The Spine Journal*, *21*(5), 855–864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2021.01.017
- 37. Metzger, M. F., Robinson, S. T., Svet, M. T., Liu, J. C., & Acosta, F. L. (2016).
  Biomechanical Analysis of the Proximal Adjacent Segment after Multilevel
  Instrumentation of the Thoracic Spine: Do Hooks Ease the Transition? *Global Spine Journal*, 6(4), 335–343. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1563611
- 38. Viswanathan, V. K., Ganguly, R., Minnema, A. J., DeVries Watson, N. A., Grosland, N. M., Fredericks, D. C., Grossbach, A. J., Viljoen, S. V., & Farhadi, H. F. (2019).
  Biomechanical assessment of proximal junctional semi-rigid fixation in long-segment thoracolumbar constructs. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine*, *30*(2), 184–192.
  https://doi.org/10.3171/2018.7.SPINE18136
- Cho, S. K., Caridi, J., Kim, J. S., Cheung, Z. B., Gandhi, A., & Inzana, J. (2018).
   Attenuation of Proximal Junctional Kyphosis Using Sublaminar Polyester Tension Bands: A Biomechanical Study. *World Neurosurgery*, *120*, e1136–e1142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2018.08.244
- 40. Kim, J. S., Cheung, Z. B., Arvind, V., Caridi, J., & Cho, S. K.-W. (2019). Role of Posterior Ligamentous Reinforcement in Proximal Junctional Kyphosis: A Cadaveric Biomechanical Study. *Asian Spine Journal*, *13*(1), 68–76. https://doi.org/10.31616/asj.2018.0102

- 41. Mac-Thiong, J.-M., Levasseur, A., Parent, S., & Petit, Y. (2014). The Influence of Proximal Anchors on the Risk of Proximal Junctional Fracture in the Osteoporotic Spine: Biomechanical Comparison Between Pedicle Screws and Transverse Process Hooks. *Journal of Spinal Disorders & Techniques*, 27(2), E49–E54. https://doi.org/10.1097/BSD.0b013e318292b914
- 42. Thawrani, D. P., Glos, D. L., Coombs, M. T., Bylski-Austrow, D. I., & Sturm, P. F. (2014). Transverse Process Hooks at Upper Instrumented Vertebra Provide More Gradual Motion Transition Than Pedicle Screws: *Spine*, *39*(14), E826–E832. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.000000000000367
- 43. Facchinello, Y., Brailovski, V., Petit, Y., Brummund, M., Tremblay, J., & Mac-Thiong, J.-M. (2015). Biomechanical assessment of the stabilization capacity of monolithic spinal rods with different flexural stiffness and anchoring arrangement. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 30(10), 1026–1035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2015.09.011
- 44. Brummund, M., Brailovski, V., Petit, Y., Facchinello, Y., & Mac-Thiong, J.-M. (2017). Impact of anchor type on porcine lumbar biomechanics: Finite element modelling and invitro validation. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 43, 86–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2017.02.007
- 45. Lange, T., Schmoelz, W., Gosheger, G., Eichinger, M., Heinrichs, C. H., Boevingloh, A. S., & Schulte, T. L. (2017). Is a gradual reduction of stiffness on top of posterior instrumentation possible with a suitable proximal implant? A biomechanical study. *The Spine Journal*, *17*(8), 1148–1155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2017.03.021
- 46. Ou-Yang, D., Moldavsky, M., Wessell, N., Brooks, D. M., Titanti, M., Matheis, E. A., Bucklen, B. S., & Patel, V. (2020). Evaluation of Spinous Process Tethering at the
Proximal End of Rigid Constructs: In Vitro Range of Motion and Intradiscal Pressure at Instrumented and Adjacent Levels. *International Journal of Spine Surgery*, *14*(4), 571– 579. https://doi.org/10.14444/7076

- 47. Mar, D. E., Clary, S. J., Burton, D. C., & McIff, T. E. (2019). Biomechanics of Prophylactic Tethering for Proximal Junctional Kyphosis: Characterization of Spinous Process Tether Pretensioning and Pull-Out Force. *Spine Deformity*, 7(2), 191–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jspd.2018.06.017
- 48. Mar, D. E., Burton, D. C., & McIff, T. E. (2019). Biomechanics of Prophylactic Tethering for Proximal Junctional Kyphosis: Comparison of Posterior Tether Looping Techniques. *Spine Deformity*, 7(2), 197–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jspd.2018.07.001
- 49. Cadieux, C. (2022, June). Biomechanical Characterization of Proximal Thoracic Fixation and its Potential Effect on Adjacent Level Disease: A Systematic Review [Poster].
  Canadian Orthopaedic Association Annual Meeting, Quebec City, Quebec.
- Lenke, L., & Kim, Y. (2005). Thoracic pedicle screw placement: Free-hand technique. *Neurology India*, 53(4), 512. https://doi.org/10.4103/0028-3886.22622
- 51. Wilke, H.-J., Wenger, K., & Claes, L. (1998). Testing criteria for spinal implants: Recommendations for the standardization of in vitro stability testing of spinal implants. *European Spine Journal*, 7(2), 148–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s005860050045
- 52. Smith, J. S., Shaffrey, C. I., Ames, C. P., & Lenke, L. G. (2019). Treatment of adult thoracolumbar spinal deformity: Past, present, and future: JNSPG 75th Anniversary Invited Review Article. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine*, *30*(5), 551–567. https://doi.org/10.3171/2019.1.SPINE181494

- Youssef, J. A., Orndorff, D. O., Patty, C. A., Scott, M. A., Price, H. L., Hamlin, L. F., Williams, T. L., Uribe, J. S., & Deviren, V. (2013). Current Status of Adult Spinal Deformity. *Global Spine Journal*, 3(1), 051–062. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1326950
- 54. Vercoulen, T. F. G., Doodkorte, R. J. P., Roth, A., de Bie, R., & Willems, P. C. (2022). Instrumentation Techniques to Prevent Proximal Junctional Kyphosis and Proximal Junctional Failure in Adult Spinal Deformity Correction: A Systematic Review of Clinical Studies. *Global Spine Journal*, *12*(6), 1282–1296. https://doi.org/10.1177/21925682211034500
- 55. Yanik, H. S., Ketenci, I. E., Polat, A., Ulusoy, A., Deniz, G., Kose, O., & Erdem, S. (2015). Prevention of Proximal Junctional Kyphosis After Posterior Surgery of Scheuermann Kyphosis: An Operative Technique. *Journal of Spinal Disorders & Techniques*, 28(2), E101–E105. https://doi.org/10.1097/BSD.00000000000157
- 56. Korkmaz, M., Akgul, T., Sariyilmaz, K., Ozkunt, O., Dikici, F., & Yazicioglu, O. (2019). Effectiveness of posterior structures in the development of proximal junctional kyphosis following posterior instrumentation: A biomechanical study in a sheep spine model. *Acta Orthopaedica et Traumatologica Turcica*, 53(5), 385–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aott.2019.01.003
- 57. Lange, T., Schulte, T. L., Gosheger, G., Schulze Boevingloh, A., Mayr, R., & Schmoelz, W. (2018). Effects of multilevel posterior ligament dissection after spinal instrumentation on adjacent segment biomechanics as a potential risk factor for proximal junctional kyphosis: A biomechanical study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *19*(1), 57. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-018-1967-0

- 58. Lee, J., & Park, Y.-S. (2016). Proximal Junctional Kyphosis: Diagnosis, Pathogenesis, and Treatment. Asian Spine Journal, 10(3), 593. https://doi.org/10.4184/asj.2016.10.3.593
- 59. Costi, J. J., Ledet, E. H., & O'Connell, G. D. (2021). Spine biomechanical testing methodologies: The controversy of consensus vs scientific evidence. *JOR SPINE*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/jsp2.1138
- 60. Pennington, Z., Cottrill, E., Ahmed, A. K., Passias, P., Protopsaltis, T., Neuman, B., Kebaish, K. M., Ehresman, J., Westbroek, E. M., Goodwin, M. L., & Sciubba, D. M. (2019). Paraspinal muscle size as an independent risk factor for proximal junctional kyphosis in patients undergoing thoracolumbar fusion: Presented at the 2019 AANS/CNS Joint Section on Disorders of the Spine and Peripheral Nerves. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine*, *31*(3), 380–388. https://doi.org/10.3171/2019.3.SPINE19108
- Wilke, H.-J., Herkommer, A., Werner, K., & Liebsch, C. (2017). In vitro analysis of the segmental flexibility of the thoracic spine. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(5), e0177823. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177823
- 62. Fujimori, T., Inoue, S., Le, H., Schairer, W. W., Berven, S. H., Tay, B. K., Deviren, V., Burch, S., Iwasaki, M., & Hu, S. S. (2014). Long fusion from sacrum to thoracic spine for adult spinal deformity with sagittal imbalance: Upper versus lower thoracic spine as site of upper instrumented vertebra. *Neurosurgical Focus*, *36*(5), E9. https://doi.org/10.3171/2014.3.FOCUS13541
- 63. Oda, I., Abumi, K., Cunningham, B. W., Kaneda, K., & McAfee, P. C. (2002). An In Vitro Human Cadaveric Study Investigating the Biomechanical Properties of the Thoracic Spine: *Spine*, 27(3), E64–E70. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007632-200202010-00007

# Appendices

## Appendix A: Classification Systems

### Table 4

Classification of Proximal Junctional Kyphosis Described by Yagi et al.

Classification	Description					
Classification	Description					
Туре						
1	Disc and ligamentous failure					
2	Bone failure					
3	Implant/bone interface failure					
Grade						
Α	Proximal junctional increase 10 – 19°					
В	Proximal junctional increase 20 – 29°					
С	Proximal junctional increase ≥30°					
Spondylolisthesis						
N	No obvious spondylolisthesis above the instrumented vertebrae					
S	Spondylolisthesis present above the instrumented vertebrae					

#### Table 5

Parameter	Qualifier	Severity Scale
Neurologic deficit	None	0
	Radicular pain	2
	Myelopathy	4
Focal pain	None	0
	VAS <4	1
	VAS≥5	3
Instrumentation problem	None	0
	Partial fixation loss	1
	Prominence	1
	Complete fixation loss	2
Change in kyphosis	0 – 10°	0
	10 – 20°	1
	>20°	2
	Posterior ligamentous complex failure	2
Vertebral fracture	None	0
	Compression fracture	1
	Burst/chance fracture	2
	Translation	3
Level of uppermost instrumented vertebrae	Thoracolumbar junction	0
	Upper thoracic spine	1

Hart – International Spine Study Group Proximal Junctional Kyphosis Severity Scale

Note: This scoring system was designed to help guide treatment decisions, with a score

 $\geq$ 7 indicating a need for revision surgery.

#### Table 6

#### Mean Absolute Range of Motion and Standard Deviation (SD)

	<b>T3-T4</b>		T4-5		T5-6		<b>T6-7</b>		<b>T7-8</b>	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Flexion- Extension										
APS	2.68	1.05	2.01	.75	2.27	.89	.18	.14	.15	.18
Native	2.74	.94	2.06	.69	2.03	.81	1.97	.79	1.98	.77
SB	2.76	1.09	2.07	.80	1.94	.75	.18	.10	.07	.07
SLH	2.70	1.06	.63	.51	.25	.19	04	.16	.09	.08
SS	2.69	1.03	1.95	.86	.38	.37	01	.12	.16	.21
TPH	2.76	1.04	1.92	.76	.96	.54	.10	.16	.12	.18
Lateral										
Bending										
APS	5.06	1.64	3.82	1.43	3.19	1.07	.71	.41	.19	.22
Native	4.88	1.31	3.77	1.28	3.06	.85	2.83	1.09	2.59	1.23
SB	4.93	1.27	3.91	1.42	3.10	1.00	0.54	0.31	0.23	0.16
SLH	5.08	1.46	2.71	1.26	0.74	0.49	0.16	0.17	0.20	0.15
SS	5.09	1.42	3.58	1.38	0.72	0.45	0.14	0.09	0.14	0.09
TPH	5.13	1.47	3.56	1.24	1.33	0.62	0.32	0.24	0.23	0.15
Axial										
Rotation										
APS	7.25	1.47	6.81	1.57	6.92	1.15	1.91	0.71	1.46	0.56
Native	6.94	1.31	6.57	1.56	6.82	1.14	6.83	1.87	6.70	1.74
SB	7.09	1.49	6.85	1.67	6.70	1.04	1.77	0.87	1.24	0.51
SLH	6.79	1.36	3.06	0.98	2.63	1.25	1.20	0.57	1.23	0.44
SS	7.27	1.72	6.48	1.60	2.13	0.97	1.49	0.63	1.58	0.63
TPH	7.10	1.38	5.76	1.73	3.26	1.43	1.91	1.02	1.70	0.66

Note: ROM for each vertebral level was recorded and intersegmental motion (i.e. T3 –

*T4) was subsequently calculated from absolute values. All values are reported in degrees.*